Drew University

College of Liberal Arts

# EFFECTS OF DCP-LA ON LEARNING AND MEMORY IN AN *IN VIVO* ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE MODEL WITH OVARIECTOMIZED RATS

A Thesis in Neuroscience

by

Pearl A. Sutter

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the

Requirements for a Degree in Bachelor in Arts

with Specialized Honors in Neuroscience

May 2018

#### <u>Abstract</u>

Alzheimer's disease (AD) currently impacts an estimated 5.5 million Americans and is the sixth leading cause of death in the United States. By 2050, the number of Americans living with AD is predicted to rise to approximately 13.8 million. Women over 65 are the most susceptible to AD for reasons unknown. Due to the lack of successful therapies for AD, the United States could be bordering on an AD epidemic.

Several promising studies have shown the compound 8-[2-(2-pentylcyclopropylmethyl)-cyclopropyl]-octanoic acid (DCP-LA), a PKC- $\varepsilon$  activator, to reverse the effects of AD in male *in vivo* models. These studies are limited in their focus on male transgenic *in vivo* models, so this study explored a pharmacological AD model as well as its impact on females.

The Ferrous- Amyloid- Buthionine (FAB) model was used to induce AD pathologies. This model is established by pumping ferrous sulfate, amyloid beta fragments, and buthionine sulfoximine into the lateral ventricle of rats over a four-week period. The FAB model mirrors both behavioral and molecular pathologies of AD and models the role of oxidative stress in AD. Some rats also received ovariectomies (OVX) to model post-menopause conditions, since the female population over 65 is the most susceptible to AD.

Morris Water Maze (MWM) was used to evaluate spatial learning and memory. This is a commonly used test of spatial learning and memory. Intraperitoneal injections of DCP-LA were administered 24 hours prior to the first day of testing. Immunohistochemistry for NeuN and synaptophysin is currently being conducted to determine neuronal and synaptic density differences between treatment groups. FAB treated animals showed a significant decrease in learning and memory as compared to the controls. OVX rats only showed memory deficits as compared to the controls. The learning and memory performance by FAB animals that received DCP-LA injections, returned to the level of the control. However, the injection of DCP-LA did not restore OVX animals' memory performances. The two main conclusions that can be drawn from these results are that DCP-LA appears to reverse the negative effects of the FAB model, and OVX might be creating memory deficits through pathways unrelated to PKC-ε.

This study shows that the loss of sex hormones in females could majorly impact female neurological health. These results also have exciting prospect for DCP-LA. This compound has now shown to reverse the negative effects of the FAB model in both male and female rats. To date it has shown a lot of promise, but there are many follow up studies to conduct before it can reach human trials.

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	1
Alzheimer's Disease: Higher Prevalence in the Female Population	1
Estrogen.	5
Protein Kinase C- Epsilon Role in Alzheimer's Disease	
DCP-LA: A PKC-ε Activator. Experimental Design.	10
Subjects and Treatment Groups	17
Solutions	18
Osmotic Pump Filling	
Surgical Procedures	19
Stereotaxic Surgery- Pump Insertion	19
Ovariectomies	
Morris Water Maze	
Acclimation	
Training	23
Probe Trial	23
Data Analysis	24
Results	25
Weight Differences and Locomotor Activity	25
Morris Water Maze	
Learning Trials	
Probe Trial	29
Discussion	32
Hypothesis #1	
Hypothesis #2	
Hypothesis #3	
Hypothesis #4	40
Hypothesis #5	
Conclusion	45
References	45

# **Introduction**

#### Alzheimer's Disease: Higher Prevalence in the Female Population

Dementia impacts millions of individuals and families each year with Alzheimer's disease (AD) being the most common form of dementia, representing between 60%-80% of all dementia cases (Alzheimer's Association 2018). According to Alzheimer's Disease International's (ADI) "World Alzheimer's Report 2016," which reported meta analyses of dementia diagnoses from 44 countries, approximately 50 million individuals around the world currently live with dementia; this number is predicted to skyrocket over the next several decades, resulting in an increase to 75 million in 2030, and 131.5 million in 2050. These estimates have dramatically increased since previous estimates made by the ADI in 2010, which estimated 35.6 million cases of dementia in 2010, 65.7 million cases in 2030 and 115.4 million cases in 2050 (Wimo and Prince 2010). As dementia estimates increase, AD also is becoming one of most common causes of death in the world. The World Health Organization published a report ranking AD as the 7<sup>th</sup> top cause of death globally in 2015, which is an alarming difference compared to its ranking as the 50<sup>th</sup> top cause of death in 2010 (World Health Organization 2017; Lozano et al. 2010). The Alzheimer's Association 2015 yearly report states that this ranking is considered low however, because AD is not always listed as the primary cause of death on death certificates. Instead it is estimated to be as higher as the third leading cause of death in the world (2015 Alzheimer's).

There are several populations with higher risks of developing AD. One group disproportionately more impacted is females. In a study conducted by Herbert et al. in 2013, researchers found that about 66% of all AD cases are seen in females. Interestingly,

however, many studies have shown that the incidence of AD in males and females is equal until about age 80, after which females have a much higher incidence of AD than males (Fratiglioni et al. 1997; Ott et al. 1998; Gao et al. 1998; Letenneur et al. 1999; Andersen et al. 1999; Ruitenberg et al. 2001; Miech et al. 2002; Roberts et al. 2014). A review by Baum 2005 suggests that women live longer and so the increased prevalence of AD in females is actually a misunderstanding of the population data. Other studies suggest that environmental and cultural differences, sex-linked genetic factors, and hormonal differences all increase a female's susceptibility of AD.

One contributing factor leading to women's higher susceptibility to AD as compared to males could be due to their differences in amount of exercise. A metaanalysis conducted by Norton et al. in 2014 found that physical inactivity was the environmental factor most highly correlated with the development of AD. Considering that women tend to exercise less than men due to societal constraints, this could explain why women are more likely to develop AD (Nomaguchi and Bianchi 2004). Nomaguchi and Bianchi 2004 also found that women are limited more by marriage and parental responsibilities than males, and these social limitations negatively impact their exercise time.

The analysis conducted by Norton et al. also showed that low educational attainment was a second environmental risk factor associated with developing AD (2014). The potential linkage between low education levels and higher incidence and susceptibility to AD has been supported in many studies conducted around the world (Zhang et al. 1990; Fratiglioni et al. 1991; Katzman 1993; Mortimer and Graves 1993; Bickel et al. 1994; Stern et al. 1994; Bonaiuto et al. 1995; Karp et al. 2004; Roe et al.

2007). It is possible that low educational attainment was present for females who currently are living with AD due to the culture in which they were raised. Since the females diagnosed with AD in these studies grew up during the 1920s-1940s, a time when educating females was emphasized less, many of them received lower levels of education (Vemuri et al. 2012). In the modern education system, at least in many cultures, females are now attaining similar levels of education as men and so it is possible the incidences of AD between sexes will equalize in future decades (Ryan and Seibens 2012).

In addition to environmental factors, several genetic risk factors might offer an explanation for higher susceptibility rates of AD in women. Apolipoprotien E (APOE)  $\varepsilon 4$  is currently the highest risk factor gene for sporadic AD, the most common form of AD (Corder et al. 1993; Slooter et al. 1998; Cosentino et al. 2008). Several studies have linked one copy of APOE  $\varepsilon 4$  with a 2-3 fold increase in the probability of developing AD, and two copies of APOE  $\varepsilon 4$  with a 12 fold higher risk of developing AD (Corder et al. 1993; Saunders et al. 1993; Roses 1996; Michaelson 2014). The dramatic increase in AD susceptibility associated with APOE  $\varepsilon 4$  (Roses 1996). This allele has been linked with impaired cognitive function, synaptic remodeling, and reduced neuronal survival; all of which are major deficits seen in AD brains (Arendt et al. 1997; Ji et al 2013; Teter 2014).

The presence of the APOE  $\varepsilon$ 4 allele also appears to lead to greater neurological troubles in females. In a couple meta- analyses conducted by Farrer et al. 1997 and Altmann et al. 2004, it was found that women with one copy of APOE  $\varepsilon$ 4 have a four fold increase in risk of developing AD compared to individuals with the common APOE allele, APOE  $\varepsilon$ 3. These analyses also found that one copy of APOE  $\varepsilon$ 4 in males did not increase

risk of developing AD at all, and only that males who were homozygous for APOE  $\epsilon$ 4 showed an increased risk (Farrer et al. 1997; Atlman et al. 2014). Not only does the presence of APOE  $\epsilon$ 4 increase risk of developing AD, but APOE  $\epsilon$ 4 also has more severe effects in females than males with regards to memory performance, cortical thickness, hippocampal pathology, and amyloid beta plaque accumulation (Fleisher et al. 2005; Liu et al. 2005; Damoiseaux et al. 2014; Kunzler et al. 2014). It is important to recognize that APOE is not sex linked, so males and females have the same probability of possessing the APOE  $\epsilon$ 4 allele, but its presence results in more extreme impacts in females (Fallin et al. 2001). APOE  $\epsilon$ 4 is also not present in every AD patient, so that this gene cannot be considered the only cause for AD development (Ward et al. 2012).

Hormonal differences have also been implicated in the higher susceptibility to AD in women. Women undergo menopause usually in their early 50s, which is followed by a rapid loss of two major sex hormones, 17- $\beta$  estradiol and progesterone (Nugent et al. 2012). Because 17- $\beta$  estradiol has been shown to have neuroprotective effects in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* models, researchers suspect that the loss of 17- $\beta$  estradiol might result in less neuroprotection for the brain, resulting in an increased risk of developing AD (Kwakowsky et al. 2016). This decrease in hormone levels results in females having lower levels of estrogen than males, which supports the hypothesis that females are lacking the neuroprotective features of estrogen that males still have through their conversion of their testosterone to estradiol (Janicki and Schupf 2010).

Although there are many risk factors that have been linked with increased susceptibility in the development of AD in females, it is important to consider that the higher prevalence of AD in females might be due to a combination of these risk factors. Individuals should focus on eliminating the risk factors that can be removed, such as low educational attainment and physical inactivity, while researchers should continue to focus on understanding how the APOE  $\varepsilon$ 4 gene or low estrogen levels might also pose an increase risk of developing AD. This study will focus on exploring the role estrogen plays in the development of AD and potential therapies to combat this risk factor.

# Estrogen

Estrogens are a group of steroid hormones that are critical for proper growth and development in both males and females. Although estrogen is present in both sexes, estrogen levels surpass male estrogen levels around puberty and remain much higher during the entirety of reproductive age from approximately 12 to 49. Estrogen levels in females then drop below the male's estrogen levels after menopause (Dalal et al. 2015). This group of hormones is necessary for the formation of pubertal and reproductive development in females as well as fetal lung formation, and bone maturation and stability (Korach 1994; Cutler 1997; Massaro and Massaro 2004; Brisken and O'Malley 2010). Estrogen has also linked with regulation of metabolism, coagulation, fat deposition, and fluid balance in the peripheral nervous system, and has exhibited neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory effects in the central nervous system (Bonnar 1987; Heine et al. 2000; Stachenfeld and Keefe 2002; Brann et al. 2007; Coyoy et al. 2016; Villa et al. 2016).

The loss of estrogen can lead to serious health problems including osteoporosis, a variety of mental illnesses, and infertility. Osteoporosis is a skeletal disease resulting in fragile bones due to decreased bone density. Estrogen aids in bone reabsorption by increasing osteoclast populations, and so low estrogen conditions are a major risk factor for osteoporosis (Riggs 2000). For reasons currently unknown, low estrogen levels also are associated with the development of mental disorders such as obsessive-compulsive disorder, depression, and sometimes severe mood swings (Douma et al. 2005). Finally, estrogens are crucial to female reproductive function, and low levels are directly correlated with loss of fertility such as that seen in menopause. Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) has shown to restore hormone levels menopausal women to increase bone density and re-stabilize mood; however the use of HRT remains controversial because it increases the risk of developing fatal breast cancer (Cauley et al. 2005). A specific type of HRT, estrogen replacement therapy (ERT), has also been studied with hopes that the neuroprotective effects of estrogen without progesterone will show more consistent results. These studies produced controversial results similar to studies of HRT; however ERT was not found to increase the risk of developing fatal breast cancer as much as HRT (Ross et al. 2000)

In the central nervous system, effects of estrogen on learning and memory have been widely studied. Studies found that 17- $\beta$  estradiol, one of the three naturally occurring forms of estrogen, plays a critical role in memory consolidation and enhancement (Davies et al. 2005; Gresack and Frick 2006; Luine 2008). Loss or removal of estrogen corresponds with lower performance on learning as well as and spatial and recognition memory tasks (Monteiro et al. 2005; Luine 2008). Administration of exogenous 17- $\beta$  estradiol also enhances cognitive abilities during learning, but showed varying effects based on different memory types (Fader et al. 1998; Luine et al. 1998; Fader et al. 1999; Dohanich 2002; Luine 2008; Frick 2009). Spatial memory and working memory both showed improvement with administration of exogenous estradiol, but no effects were observed on reference memory (Fader et al. 1998; Luine et al. 1998; Fader et al. 1999).

Numerous studies confirm the findings that the loss of 17- $\beta$  estradiol leads to specific mechanisms that are dysfunctional in AD, including neuroprotection of brain areas involved with learning and memory, modulation of overactivation of immune cells in the brain, and clearance of accumulated amyloid beta (A $\beta$ ) plaques (Yamada et al. 1999; Kwakosky et al. 2016; Villa et al. 2016). One particular area of interest, however, is the ability of 17- $\beta$  estradiol to activate protein kinase C- $\epsilon$  (PKC- $\epsilon$ ), a protein that when activated has shown neuroprotective effects (Cordey et al. 2003; Sun and Alkon 2014). Several studies have linked PKC- $\epsilon$  deactivation with development of AD hallmarks (Takashima 2006; Nelson et al. 2009).

Researchers hypothesized that restoring estrogen levels in females with hormonal replacement therapy (HRT) might reactivate PKC-ε in order to prevent or reverse AD. Many studies were conducted using hormonal replacement therapy (HRT) to reduce the risk of developing AD, but the results are controversial (Mielke et al. 2014). Some studies showed that if HRT treatment was started after menopause, the risk of developing AD was reduced (Henderson et al. 2005; Morrison et al. 2006; Whitmer et al. 2011). However, a study conducted by Shumaker et al. 2004 concluded that women who received HRT after age 65 actually had an increased risk to AD as compared to the controls. Additional studies concluded that HRT does not improve cognitive function in AD patients, and so HRT should mainly be used as a preventative therapy (Mulnard et al. 2000; LeBlanc 2001; Daniel et al. 2006). In order to explain these contradicting results, Rocca et al. 2011 suggested that HRT only has an impact on the cognitive abilities of

women at certain times in relation to the onset of menopause. This study suggested that there is narrow window immediately following menopause, during which HRT could show preventative effects (Rocca et al. 2011). This finding was promising until the side effects of HRT were considered. HRT has directly been linked to increasing risk of fatal breast cancer, ovarian cancer, and cardiovascular disease if used for over 10 years (Nabulsi et al. 1993; Collaborative 1997; Lacey et al. 2002; Rossouw 2002; Chlebowski et al. 2003). Because HRT would be used as a preventive therapy for AD, HRT would be introduced without knowledge if the individual would develop AD and so the risk of breast cancer would increase regardless if the neuroprotective effects of HRT were needed. Further studies need to be conducted to understand whether HRT therapy is an option for reducing AD prevalence in females before it is pursued as a treatment option.

#### <u>PKC-ε and AD</u>

Three of the main hallmarks of AD are the accumulation of A $\beta$  plaques, tau hyperphosphorylation, and oxidative stress, all of which stem from PKC- $\epsilon$  activation. A $\beta$ plaques are accumulations of naturally produced proteins in the brain which can stick to each other and block synaptic communication (Mohktar et al. 2013). This can lead to neuronal cell death and disrupted signaling throughout the brain (Cras 1991). There are two main mechanisms explaining the modulation of A $\beta$  plaque levels by PKC- $\epsilon$ . A study by Zhu et al. in 2001 concluded that PKC- $\epsilon$  promotes cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) by  $\alpha$ -secretase rather than  $\beta$ -secretase. Two neuroprotective fragments are produced from APP after cleavage by  $\alpha$ -secretase, whereas A $\beta$  is the result from cleavage by  $\beta$ -secretase (Klatt et al. 2013; Gouras et al. 2015). By increasing activity of  $\alpha$ -secretase, PKC- $\varepsilon$  would lower A $\beta$  production, leading to reduced accumulation of A $\beta$  plaques (Zhu et al. 2001). This study was supported by several additional studies (Akita 2001, Nelson et al. 2009, and Hongpansian et al. 2011). Eckman et al. 2001 proposed a second mechanism the same year as Zhu et al. 2001, hypothesizing that PKC- $\varepsilon$  increases the activity of the enzyme endothelin-converting enzyme-1 (ECE-1), which degrades A $\beta$ . Several follow-up studies have confirmed this finding (Funalot et al. 2004; Choi et al. 2006). The development of a PKC- $\varepsilon$  activator would be useful for breaking down current A $\beta$  plaques, while also limiting A $\beta$  plaque production.

PKC- $\varepsilon$  is also involved in the mechanisms underlying tau hyperphosphorylation. In healthy brain, the cytoskeletons of neurons are structurally supported and stabilized by microtubules bound to tau proteins (Hammond et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2013). However, in an AD brain, glucose synthase kinase 3 $\beta$  (GSK-3 $\beta$ ) phosphorylates tau proteins, thus removing their ability to bind to and provide structural support to the microtubule (Takashima 2006). The hyperphosphorylated tau also binds to normal tau proteins and further destabilizes the microtubule (Santa-Maria et al. 2012). PKC- $\varepsilon$  inhibits GSK-3 $\beta$ through both direct inhibition and also indirect inhibition by reducing the production of A $\beta_{1-42}$  protein, which is a GSK-3 $\beta$  activator (Isagawa et al. 2000). The reduction of A $\beta$ protein could be due to either of the two mechanisms described above.

PKC- $\varepsilon$  is also involved in the oxidative stress seen in AD. While some reactive oxygen species (ROS) are present in the normal brain, in AD, the levels of these potential damaging agents can become excessive (Andreyev et al. 2005). ROS, which include oxygen radicals, hydrogen peroxide, and hypochlorous acid, the oxygen radicals and hydrogen peroxide can generate hydroxyl radicals, which are highly reactive and can

result in tissue damage when present in high amounts (Leeuwenburgh and Heinecke 2001; Andreyev et al. 2005). In a study by Maher 2001, PCK- $\varepsilon$  was found to protect neurons from oxidative stress-induced cell death. The neuroprotective effects of activated PCK- $\varepsilon$  were supported by two follow-up studies in 2003 that found the activation of PKC- $\varepsilon$  beneficial in two different oxidative stress-induced cell death models (Di Capua et al. 2003; Uemura et al. 2003). The study by Uemura et al. 2003 suggested that PKC- $\varepsilon$  might be involved in suppression of glutamate receptors to reduce damage from methamphetamine-induced cell death. Di Capua et al. 2003 found that PKC- $\varepsilon$  has protective effects on cell survival in ischemia-reprofusion injury models. In both studies, the exact mechanistic properties of PKC- $\varepsilon$  were not determined. Instead activation of PKC- $\varepsilon$  was linked with neuroprotection in these oxidative stress conditions.

The involvement of PKC- $\varepsilon$  in AD makes it a promising target for AD therapies. Because PKC- $\varepsilon$  is not activated in high levels in AD, researchers are currently exploring PKC- $\varepsilon$  activators with hopes that the re-activation of PKC- $\varepsilon$  will show preventive or even curative effects.

#### DCP-LA: A PCK-ε activator

One particular PKC-ε activator that has shown promise as an AD therapy is a linoleic acid derivative called 8-[2-(2-pentyl-cyclopropylmethyl)-cyclopropyl]-octanoic acid (DCP-LA). First synthesized in 2003 by Tanaka and Nishizaki, DCP-LA is a relatively new compound, and therefore has only received limited attention. Even though DCP-LA has not been extensively studied, the several studies that explore the function

DCP-LA in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* model systems have shown consistent and exciting results for its potential as an AD therapy.

The *in vitro* studies aided researchers in both determining DCP-LA's function as well as its potential as a successful drug compound. Two studies, one by Takana and Nishizaki 2003 and the other by Kanno et al. 2006, found that DCP-LA specifically activates PKC- $\varepsilon$  with a greater than 7-fold potency over other PKC isoenzymes. This specificity for PKC- $\varepsilon$  is hypothesized to be due to DCP-LA's affinity for the phosphatidylserine binding site, a binding site required for PKC- $\varepsilon$  activation, and PKC- $\varepsilon$  activation being calcium independent (Kanno et al. 2006; Sun and Akon 2014). Sun and Akon propose that because PKC- $\varepsilon$  activation is calcium independent, activation of PKC- $\varepsilon$  only requires binding to the phosphatidylserine binding site, whereas the need of calcium for other PKC isoforms limits their activation levels when DCP-LA binds to their phosphatidylserine binding sites (2014). This would explain the observed 7-fold higher activation of PKC- $\varepsilon$  by DCP-LA as compared to other PKC isoforms.

These studies also characterize DCP-LA as an excellent drug candidate because they demonstrate DCP-LA's affinity and specificity, two critical considerations for medications. DCP-LA's high specificity and affinity for PKC-ε is important because high specificity and affinity can help eliminate unwanted side effects through non-specific binding, helping to focus the treatment (Roy and Chaguturu 2017). DCP-LA also demonstrated ability to cross the highly selective blood brain barrier, which is a major challenge in drug development for neurological disorders (Takana and Nishizaki 2003). In order for medications to have effects on brain chemistry, they need to be able to access the brain by crossing the blood brain barrier. This finding was confirmed by several *in*  *vivo* studies that showed neurological impacts of DCP-LA after administration of DCP-LA through intraperitoneal injections (Nagata et al. 2005; Nagata et al. 2010; Yaguchi et al. 2010; Hongpasian et al. 2011).

The *in vitro* studies are important for understanding mechanisms underlying DCP-LA's function, but the *in vivo* studies helped examine DCP-LA in a system. In *in vivo* studies conducted to date, the administration of DCP-LA restored learning and memory abilities, protected neurons from oxidative stress, and prevented synaptic loss,  $A\beta$ accumulation, and tau hyperphosphorylation (Nagata et al. 2005; Nagata et al. 2010; Yaguchi et al. 2010; Hongpasian et al. 2011; Candia 2017). The reduction of Aß accumulation and tau hyperphosphorylation, as well as neuronal protection from oxidative stresses are direct linkages to impacts DCP-LA has on specific AD pathologies. In addition to demonstrating impacts on the molecular level, DCP-LA administration also reversed more complex behaviors such as learning and memory. The restoration of learning and memory in AD models is particularly exciting because the current AD drugs are limited to only slowing the progression of AD, not reversing the behavioral deficits (Alzheimer's 2017). These results demonstrate that DCP-LA's activation of PKC- $\varepsilon$  is important in eliminating AD disease pathology, and further support targeting PKC- $\varepsilon$  for AD therapies.

One major limitation of these studies is that they were only conducted in male animals. As was previously discussed, AD impacts females disproportionality more than males, and so females are an important part of the AD population to study. One hypothesis to explain increased female susceptibility to AD suggests that women's loss of  $17-\beta$  estradiol after menopause leads to diminished PKC- $\epsilon$  activation. Because HRT neither restored PKC- $\varepsilon$  activity nor learning and memory deficits in a majority of previous studies, the introduction of a different PKC- $\varepsilon$  activator, such as DCP-LA, might be needed. Both DCP-LA and 17- $\beta$  estradiol activate PKC- $\varepsilon$ , but DCP-LA has proven more successful in *in vivo* studies than 17- $\beta$  estradiol. It is possible that DCP-LA will not only restore cognitive deficits caused by the AD model, but also deficits resulting from the loss of 17- $\beta$  estradiol.

# Experimental Design

In order to investigate DCP-LA as a potential AD therapy in females, the appropriate *in vivo* models need to be selected including models for AD and menopause. This study selected the Ferrous Amyloid Buthionine (FAB) model because it mimics late onset AD through its production of amyloid beta plaques and oxidative stresses (Lecanu et al. 2006). Late onset AD, also known as sporadic AD, is important to study as opposed to early onset, or genetically linked, AD because late onset AD makes up about 95% of all AD cases (Alzheimer's 2018). The FAB model, developed by Lecanu et al. 2006, is the only sporadic AD model that elicits two of the three hallmarks of AD as well as produces learning and memory deficits. Previous DCP-LA studies conducted by Nataga et al. 2005 and Nataga et al. 2010 attempted to model sporadic AD with intracerebroventricular infusions of amyloid beta. Although this model led to the formation of amyloid beta plaques and produced learning and memory deficits, it is limited in its ability to model more than one hallmark of AD. The FAB model, first used in combination with DCP-LA by Candia 2017, combines two of the three hallmarks creating an AD model producing more of the AD pathologies. It is important to recognize that the FAB also has its limitations because it cannot induce neurofibrillary tangles;

however it is one model of sporadic AD that currently exists (Lecanu and Papadopoulos 2013).

Another important characteristic of in females is low levels of 17- $\beta$  estradiol. A dramatic drop in estrogens and progesterone occurs after menopause in older women, and this drop is thought to be a risk factor for developing AD. Ovariectomies (OVX) in rats are a common model for menopause because they demonstrate both similar drops in estrogen levels and decreased bone density as are seen in human menopause (Kalu 1991). This study aims to create a post menopause sporadic AD model through combination of OVX with FAB that can be utilized for studying AD in females. No other studies are known to have combined FAB with OVX to model AD in females. One possible limitation to using OVX to model menopause is the difference in timing of hormone reduction between the gradual process of menopause and the abrupt surgical process of an OVX. The OVX leads to similar symptoms of menopause, but a more accurate model would mimic the slow hormone decrease observed in menopause.

The combination FAB and OVX to create the post menopausal sporadic AD model will aid in determining if DCP-LA can be used as a replacement for  $17-\beta$  estradiol to restore PKC- $\epsilon$  activation in AD. If learning and memory deficits are observed from the OVX treatment, this study will help to answer if an injection of DCP-LA will restore learning and memory deficits from OVX as well as deficits caused by the FAB model.

Major deficits observed in AD include declines in learning and memory (Alzheimer's 2018). A commonly used learning and memory test, the Morris Water Maze (MWM), can be employed to quantify spatial learning and memory performance (Morris 1984). This test measures the latency for rats to reach a platform hidden beneath the surface of opaque water in a ~1.7 meter diameter pool over a five day learning period. The learning period is followed by a memory test measuring the rat's ability to remember where the platform was located, even after it has been removed. This test is often used when examining spatial learning and memory behavior in AD research because spatial awareness is a major part of cognitive decline observed in AD progression (Alzheimer's 2018). There are several limitation to the MWM use to measure learing and memory including an inability to alter motivation level to find the platform, and that immersion into water might cause additional stresses in the rat that might impact results (Morris 1984)

In conclusion, this study mainly strives to determine if DCP-LA can be used as a replacement for 17- $\beta$  estradiol to restore learning and memory deficits caused by a post menopause sporadic AD model. Both DCP-LA and 17- $\beta$  estradiol activate PKC- $\epsilon$ , a kinase that's activation has been linked with protecting the brain and possibly revering the deficits from AD hallmarks. However, because exogenous 17- $\beta$  estradiol has not reversed learning and memory deficits in AD, this study aims to determine if DCP-LA might reactivate PKC- $\epsilon$  to restore the learning and memory lost.

This experiment has several hypotheses:

- FAB treated rats ((+)FAB (-)OVX (-)DCP-LA) will perform significantly worse on MWM learning and memory tests than controls ((-)FAB (-)OVX (-)DCP-LA)
- 2. OVX rats ((-)*FAB* (+)*OVX* (-)*DCP-LA*) will perform significantly worse on MWM learning and memory tests than controls ((-)*FAB* (-)*OVX* (-)*DCP-LA*)

- 3. The FAB-OVX treatment group ((+)FAB (+)OVX (-)DCP-LA) will perform significantly worse on learning and memory tests than controls ((-)FAB (-)OVX (-) DCP-LA)
- DCP-LA administration will reverse the negative effects on learning and memory in all (+)FAB treated rats.
- DCP-LA administration will reverse negative effects on learning and memory in the (+)OVX rats

# **Materials and Methods**



**Figure 1: Experimental Timeline.** All major experimental procedures are included to show the layout of this project. Day numbers are included to indicate when time sensitivity is important.

#### Subjects and Treatment Groups

48 female Sprague-Dawley rats weighing between 210 and 280 grams were used for this experiment. Animals were housed in pairs for the entire duration of the experiment except the first day following surgery. Immediately following surgery and the first post-surgical day, each rat was housed individually and recovery closely monitored. The rats were given access to food and water ad lib and housed under standard 12 hour light/dark conditions. All handling and experimental procedures were approved by the Drew University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and done in accordance with the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care standards.

A baseline locomotor measure of each animal's activity was taken in a locomotor chamber using infrared beam sensors to measure the horizontal activity (HA) and vertical activity (VA) of each rat over a 10-minute period. The locomotor data was used to divide animals into counterbalanced groups. The rats were then treated +/- FAB, +/- OVX, +/-DCP-LA. There were 8 total groups: control, FAB, OVX, DCP-LA, FAB + OVX, FAB + DCP-LA, OVX + DCP-LA, FAB + OVX + DCP-LA (6 rats per group). An experimental timeline is shown in Figure 1.

# **Solutions**

#### FAB (adapted from Candia 2017)

A solution containing 1.68  $\mu$ M ferrous sulfate, 25.2 nM amyloid beta, and 20.16  $\mu$ M of buthionine sulfoximine (FAB) was prepared in batches according to the methods described in Candia 2017, which were adapted from Lecanu et al. 2006. Briefly, 0.01 g of ferrous sulfate, 3.01  $\mu$ L of 100  $\mu$ M amyloid beta, and 0.09 g of buthionine sulfoximine was added to 10 ml 0.9% saline. Animals received intracerebroventricular (ICV) infusions of either FAB or 0.9% saline via osmotic mini pumps at a rate of 0.25  $\mu$ L/hr for 28 days.

# DCP-LA

Animals received either DCP-LA (1 mg/kg in 5% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO); i.p.) or 5% DMSO 24 hours prior to the first day of Morris Water Maze Training (same day as acclimation). The DCP-LA solution was a 6  $\mu$ M stock made in 5% DSMO; average injection volume was 0.28 mL.

# Osmotic Pump Filling

FAB was delivered via Alzet miniosmotic pumps (model 2004) and Brain Infusion Kit 2. The model 2004 mini osmotic pumps have a reservoir volume of 200  $\mu$ L and pump at a rate of 0.25  $\mu$ L/hour for 28 days. Brain Infusion Kit 2 includes polycarbonate cannulae each with a 28 gauge stainless steel tube measuring 5.0 mm in length, 4 additional 0.5 mm polycarbonate spacers, and 15 cm polyvinylchloride catheter tubing with a 0.69 mm inside diameter.

Osmotic pumps were filled according to the Alzet's Mini Osmotic Pump Model 2006 manufacturer's instruction manual. Individual osmotic pump weights were recorded prior to being filled with either FAB or 0.9% saline. The provided blunt 27 gauge filling tube, attached to a 1 mL syringe, was filled with 250  $\mu$ L of the desired solution and inserted into the pump opening. Once the pump was filled, the flow moderator was inserted and each new pump weight was recorded to measure the fill volume. If the fill volume was less than 90% of the desired volume, the pump was refilled.

To prepare each cannula for pump attachment, 4 spacers were added to reduce the depth of the cannula from 5 mm to 3 mm. The cannula was attached to pre-cut 6.5 mm catheter tubing. The 27 gauge filling tube filled with the desired solution was inserted into the open end of the catheter tubing to fill the entire length of tubing and cannula. The cannula tubing was attached to the pump via the flow moderator. The pumps were divided by fill solution and then placed in 0.9% sterile saline at 37 °C for 40 hours prior to implantation.

# Surgical Procedures

# Stereotaxic Surgery- Pump Insertion (FAB)

All surgical tools were sterilized a MicroBead Sterilizer prior to the start of each surgery. Each animal was anesthetized with ketamine (90 mg/kg) and acepromazine (10 mg/kg) i.p. and then shaved from immediately behind the eyes to the base of the neck.

The animal was secured in the stereotaxic apparatus via proper placement of the ear, tooth, and nose bars. The shaved area was cleaned with an alcohol swab and sterilized with povidone-iodine. A size 10 scalpel blade was used to make an incision from behind the rat's eyes to the base of its ears. Two bulldog artery clips were used on each side of the incision to hold back the skin and expose the skull. A suprascapular pocket was created for the pump by inserting blunt scissors and opening them to expand the space. The pump was removed from saline by mouse tooth forceps, rinsed in 70% ethanol, and inserted into the pocket. The cannula, attached to the pump by the catheter tubing, remained outside the body and was wrapped in a Kimwipe. Once the pump was secured, the fascia was scrubbed with cotton swabs to reveal the skull. Hydrogen peroxide was rubbed on the skull as an antiseptic. A thin layer of styptic powder was spread on the skull to stop any bleeding and dry the skull, then rubbed off. Flat skull was confirmed by calculating difference between the lamda's and bregma's dorsal-ventral coordinates. After bregma was located, the t-pin was moved to the desired location, above the left lateral ventricle, of 0.9 mm anterior and 1.4 mm laterally to the left (Lecanu et al. 2006). A hole was drilled in this location and cotton swabs were used to control any bleeding. The t-pin was switched out for an alligator clip to hold the cannula. After the top of the cannula was secured in the alligator clip, the cannula was positioned over the drilled hole and lowered 33% of the desired depth. Dental cement was mixed and applied on the skull directly underneath the cannula. The cannula was lowered down to the 3.0 mm desired depth and another layer of dental cement was applied to secure the cannula to the skull. A third layer of dental cement was applied after the second layer was dry. During two wait times, ovariectomies were performed on appropriate animals (see procedure below).

Once the third layer was dry, the size 10 scalpel blade used previously was heated over a Bunsen burner and used to remove the tab on the top of the cannula to allow the scalp to be fully closed over the cannula apparatus. To close, any excess catheter tubing was tucked into the suprascapular pocket, the bulldog artery clips were removed and the incision was stapled closed with wound clips. Antibiotic ointment was administered to the incision. The animal was wrapped in a towel and returned to its home cage for recovery. The animal was monitored daily for signs of distress and additional antibiotic ointment was administered as needed.

# Ovariectomy (OVX)

During the wait times for the dental cement to dry, the ovariectomies or sham surgeries were performed. Rats receiving ovariectomies had previously been shaved from the bottom of their ribs to the top of their back leg on each side. The exposed skin was sterilized with povidone-iodine swabs and a 2 cm incision was made ~1.5 cm lateral to the spine that extended caudally from the bottom of the rib. Blunt scissors were inserted under the skin at the incision and opened to further expand the incision. The muscle layer was cut through to reveal the open cavity underneath. The ovary was removed from the abdominal cavity and the uterine horn was ligated. The ovary was removed and the uterine horn was replaced into the abdominal cavity. The ovary was tied off and removed. The muscle layer was sutured together with surgical silk, the skin closed with wound clips, and antibiotic ointment was administered to the incision. The procedure was repeated on the other side. After surgeries, animals were housed individually until they regained consciousness. They were then returned to pair housing and left undisturbed for 28 days.

# Morris Water Maze

On day 28 following surgeries, animals began Morris Water Maze (MWM) testing. The MWM testing was done in a pool (~1.7 meters in diameter) surrounded by four curtains, each with a different pattern to provide distal visual cues during testing. The pool was divided into four quadrants using Anymaze software. A platform was placed in the center of quadrant 1. The pool was filled with water  $(27^{\circ}C +/- 2^{\circ}C)$  until it measured 1 cm above the top of the platform, so that it was shallow enough for the rats to remove themselves from the water when standing on it. The water temperature and height were maintained throughout the entire testing procedure including acclimation, training, and the probe trials. The room was indirectly lit by four lamps with 60 watt incandescent light bulbs. During the entirety of testing, Anymaze software was used to record rat behaviors.

#### Acclimation

Acclimation was performed the day prior to the onset of training days to allow rats to adjust to MWM conditions. Rats were placed in the darkened MWM room for an hour prior to the beginning of acclimation to adjust to the light conditions. During the acclimation period, each rat was placed in the quadrant opposite the platform (quadrant 3) and given 120 seconds to find the platform. If it did not find the platform in the allotted time, the rat was guided to the platform. Once the rat reached the platform, either independently or with help, it was left to orient itself for 30 seconds before being dried and returned to its original cage. During the acclimation period, the water remained clear so that the platform was visible to the rats under the water.

# Training

One the first day of training, the water was made opaque with nontoxic black tempera paint to hide the platform's location. Each day of training consisted of four trials for each animal, where the animal's starting position in each of the four quadrants was pseudo-randomized to ensure that the rats did not have similar starting quadrant on consecutive training days. During each trial the animal was placed in the pool facing the wall and given 90 seconds to find the platform. If the animal did not find the platform in the allotted 90 seconds, it was led to the platform. Once on the platform, the rat was allowed 30 seconds to orient itself before being dried off and placed in a holding cage for 30 seconds until the start of the next trial. After the fourth trial, the rat was dried and returned to its original cage. The time it took from the rat being placed in the pool to the time it took to find the platform (latency to platform) was measured. The latency to platform for each day was calculated by averaging the four trial times.

## Probe Trial

The probe trial took place 48 hours after the final training day. The conditions were identical to those used during the training days except that the platform was removed. Each rat was placed facing the wall in the opposite quadrant to the one originally containing the platform and allowed to swim freely for 120 seconds. The time taken to reach the area where the platform was during training (latency to platform-probe), the total time spent in the platform area (total time platform), and the total time spent in the quadrant previously containing the platform (total time quadrant 4) were recorded.

Data Analysis

SPSS version 23 was used to run required statistical analyses. A repeated measures ANOVA was conducted to analyze learning during the training days. To analyze memory data collected during the probe trial, a three-way ANOVAs was conducted with FAB, OVX, and DCP-LA as factors. In all cases, the  $\alpha$ -value was set to 0.05.

# **Results**

# Weight Differences and Locomotor Activity

Animals were weighted on the day of surgery and four weeks post surgery (the day before the beginning of MWM testing). OVX animals showed significantly more weight gain over the four-week period than intact animals (p < 0.005; Figure 2). There were no other significant weight differences between treatment groups.

Animals received baseline locomotor testing to measure their activity levels four weeks post surgery. There were no significant differences seen in either horizontal or vertical locomotor activity between any of the treatment groups (Figures 3A, 3B).



Figure 2: Weight Differences Pre-Surgery to Four Weeks Post-Surgery. The weight pre-surgery was subtracted from the weight of animals four weeks post surgery. OVX animals showed significantly higher weight gain when compared to the intact animals (p < 0.005). No other significant differences were observed between other treatment groups. **a** is significantly different from **b** (p < 0.0005). Data are all mean +/- S.E.M.



**Figure 3: Locomotor Activity. A.** Horizontal locomotor activity for each animal was measured four weeks post-surgery. No significant differences were observed between treatment groups. **B.** Vertical locomotor activity was measured for each animal four weeks post-surgery. There were no significant differences observed between treatment groups. Data are all mean +/- S.E.M.

#### Morris Water Maze

# Learning Trials

Four weeks post surgery, animals underwent 5 days of training in the MWM. Each day consisted of 4 timed trials, where latency to find a hidden platform in a pool of water was measured. The four trials for each animal were averaged and then the mean and standard error of the mean was calculated for each treatment group each day. A main effect of time was seen across all treatment groups showing that as the learning trials progressed, the time to find the platform decreased (p < 0.0005; Figure 4A and 4B). Latency to platform for FAB and FAB + OVX animals were significantly higher on Day 5 than the control (p < 0.0005), DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), OVX (p < 0.0005), and OVX + DCP-LA (p = 0.011, p = 0.004) (Figure 4A). FAB and FAB + OVX treated animals also showed higher latency to platform times than the FAB + DCP-LA (both p < 0.0005) and the FAB + OVX + DCP-LA (p = 0.014, p = 0.005) treatment groups on Day 5 (Figure 4A). No difference was observed between the control animals and the FAB + DCP-LA treatment group on Day 5, and no difference was seen between the Control animals and the FAB + OVX + DCP-LA treatment group on Day 5.

Because no difference was observed between OVX treated animals and their respective controls, OVX and intact animals were pooled with their respective controls. Latency to platform for FAB treated animals was significantly higher than the Control on Day 5 (p < 0.0005; Figure 4B). FAB treated animals also had longer latency to platform times than FAB + DCP-LA treatment groups on Day 5 (p < 0.0005; Figure 4B). No significant differences were seen between the Control and the FAB + DCP-LA treatment group.



Figure 4: Latency to Reach the Hidden Platform during the MWM Training Days. Each day for 5 days, animals received 4 trials to find a hidden platform. The time from placement in the water to finding the platform was measured for each trial. The average for each treatment group on each day was calculated. \* denotes a main effect of time (p < 0.0005). A. Data for each treatment group over the five day learning period. # denotes treatment is significantly higher than the control for Day 5 (p < 0.0005). B. OVX did not impact data, so data were pooled to eliminate the OVX variable. \$ denotes a main effect of FAB treatment (p < 0.0005). Data are mean +/-S.E.M.

# Probe Trial

Forty-eight hours following Day 5 of the learning portion of the MWM, the hidden platform was removed from the pool. Each animal received one 90 second trial where the latency to the position where the hidden platform previously was located was measured to test memory (platform location). FAB treated animals took significantly more time to reach the area the platform was located in during learning than the Control (p = 0.001), DCP-LA (p = 0.004), OVX (p = 0.005), OVX + DCP-LA (p = 0.001), FAB + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), and FAB + OVX + DCP-LA (p = 0.001) (Figure 5). FAB + OVX treated animals also took significantly more time to the platform location than the Control (p < 0.0005), DCP-LA (p = 0.003), OVX (p = 0.004), OVX + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), FAB + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), and FAB + OVX + DCP-LA (p = 0.004), OVX + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), FAB + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), and FAB + OVX + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), FAB + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), and FAB + OVX + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), FAB + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), and FAB + OVX + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), FAB + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), and FAB + OVX + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), FAB + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), and FAB + OVX + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005) (Figure 5). No significant differences were measured between any of the other treatment groups.

During the memory testing, total time animals spent in the quadrant where the platform was located during learning, Q4, was also measured. The mean and standard error of the mean was also calculated for each treatment group. OVX animals with and without DCP-LA spent significantly less time in Q4 compared to the Control (p = 0.048, p = 0.049; Figure 6). FAB animals also spent significantly less time in Q4 compared to the Control (p = 0.039; Figure 6). No significant difference was seen between the OVX and the FAB treatment groups. FAB + OVX animals spent significantly less time in Q4 than the Control (p < 0.0005), DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), OVX (p = 0.021), OVX + DCP-LA (p = 0.019), FAB (p = 0.015), FAB + DCP-LA (p < 0.0005), and FAB + OVX + DCP-LA (p = 0.004) (Figure 6). No significant differences were measured between any of the other treatment groups.







Figure 6: Total time spent during probe trial in the quadrant where the platform was located during learning. 48 hours following learning trials, the platform was removed from the MWM pool. Animals were placed in the pool for 90 seconds and the total time spent in the quadrant where the platform had been located during learning (Q4) was measured. Treatment groups were averaged and standard error of the mean was calculated. a significantly differs from b (p < 0.05). b differs from c (p < 0.05). a significantly differs from c (p < 0.005). Data are mean +/-S.E.M.

# **Discussion**

This study examined the effects of DCP-LA on learning in memory in a postmenopausal sporadic AD model, with specific aims to determine if DCP-LA can be utilized as a replacement for 17- $\beta$  estradiol. The drop in 17- $\beta$  estradiol levels following menopause is considered a major risk factor that explains females' higher susceptibility to AD as compared to males. However studies restoring levels of 17- $\beta$  estradiol produced controversial results as to whether there is improvement or a preventive effect from restoring 17- $\beta$  estradiol levels through hormone replacement therapy (HRT) (Mulnard et al. 2000; LeBlanc 2001; Henderson et al. 2005; Daniel et al. 2006; Morrison et al. 2006; Whitmer et al. 2011). Increasing 17- $\beta$  estradiol levels via HRT are not without impact. HRT administration has been directly correlated with increased risks of other diseases including breast cancer, ovarian cancer and cardiovascular disease (Nabulsi et al. 1993; Collaborative 1997; Lacey et al. 2002; Rossouw 2002; Chlebowski et al. 2003).

Given that results from HRT are controversial, researchers have explored mechanisms underlying HRT, with one focus on examining the effects of PKC- $\varepsilon$  activation. Because either PKC- $\varepsilon$  inactivation or low activation levels possibly play a role in AD, current research examines the effects of administering PKC- $\varepsilon$  activators as a potential AD therapy. DCP-LA, a highly specific PKC- $\varepsilon$  activator, is focused on in this study as a compound that could restore the PKC- $\varepsilon$  activation lost after menopause in females. Through the use of an *in vivo* postmenopausal sporadic AD model, five hypotheses were investigated and are further discussed below.

**Hypothesis #1**: FAB treated rats ((+)*FAB* (-)*OVX* (-)*DCP-LA*) will perform significantly worse on MWM learning and memory tests than controls ((-)*FAB* (-)*OVX* (-)*DCP-LA*). (*Note: Since there was no main effect of OVX on learning, the following discussion of hypothesis #1 will focus on the data that pooled OVX with respective groups as seen in Figure 4b.*)

Rats treated with FAB showed learning and memory deficits as compared to all other groups during the Morris Water Maze training (MWM) and probe trial (Figure 4-6). During the learning days, FAB animals demonstrated learning as seen by an overall decrease in latency to find the platform over the five day learning period (Figure 4b). However, the time it took for FAB animals to find the platform on certain days differed from other groups. Throughout the learning days, there were either differences or trends showing that FAB rats were taking longer to find the platform than all other treatment groups (Figure 4b). This overall effect of FAB learning performance sparked concern in the possibility of FAB impacting animal activity levels. The locomotor data was analyzed to see if the FAB treated animals had different levels of activity as compared to the other treatments, and the FAB (+/-) DCP-LA animals showed no differences in their activity levels for either horizontal or vertical movement (Figure 3a, 3b). Because there were no differences in motor activity, the learning differences in the FAB animals could be attributed to reduced cognitive function.

Although the learning performance in FAB animals was reduced as compared to the other animals, interestingly the rate of learning for FAB animals does not differ from the other groups. Overall FAB rats spent more time searching for the platform, but this was apparent from the first day of learning and continued through the fifth day. The rate of learning itself was not impacted by the FAB treatment, only the actual average amount of time it took each day for the FAB rats to find the platform. This finding is similar to one conducted by Candia 2017 that also examined learning and memory deficits from the FAB model. Candia 2017 observed that FAB treated animals took longer to find the platform three of the five learning days, with what appears to be possible trending differences on the other two days. The consistencies with data from Candia 2017 confirm that FAB impacts the overall performance of the rat during a spatial learning task, but not necessarily its rate of learning.

The FAB model also produced deficits during the probe trial demonstrating that FAB also negatively impacts memory (Figure 5, 6). In the immediate measure of memory, the time for the rat to find the location of the recently removed platform, FAB and FAB + OVX rats (-) DCP-LA both spent more time than all other treatment groups orienting themselves before attempting to find the platform (Figure 5). Memory deficits in FAB rats (-) DCP-LA were also seen in the total time spent in quadrant 4, which is a longer memory test (Figure 6). These results were again were consistent with Candia 2017, lending support for the viability of FAB as a possible model system for producing the learning and memory deficits observed in AD.

Even though learning and memory deficits resulted from the model used in this experiment, there are several important limitations to consider concerning this model. First, the use of FAB has not produced evidence of neurofibrillary tangle formation, which is one of the main AD hallmarks. Damage from two of the other AD hallmarks,  $A\beta$  plaques and oxidative stresses, have been observed, but without all three hallmarks,

this model remains limited. There is currently no *in vivo* model that can reproduce the neuronal damages that result from all three hallmarks, and so this might be an important avenue to further explore in AD research. A second limitation to this model is that young rats were used. The conversion from rat years to human years calculates that the rats used, which were three months old, would be the equivalent of six-year-old humans (Sengupta 2013). Age should be a major consideration when examining AD because AD mainly impacts individuals over 65 years old. Therefore, the use of older animals might provide better insight into the effects of DCP-LA that could be specific to an older population. A third limitation is the rate of AD onset with the FAB model as compared to the timing in humans. AD onset in humans is gradual, usually taking decades before clinical symptoms are observed (Fratiglioni et al. 1991), but this experiment only infused FAB over a fourweek period leading to a fast onset of AD. Several studies have limited the infusion of FAB to a four-week span, but future studies might expand the infusion period with hopes of mimicking the slow onset of AD (Lecanu et al. 2006; Candia 2017).

It is very important to consider the limitations of a model when examining the effects of a drug, because these limitations can negatively impact drug success in clinical trials. Only about 0.4% of all drugs tested in clinical trials successfully complete all trials to become available to the population (Wong et al. 2018). This staggeringly low number stems from problems with model systems due to non-parallels between humans and the animal models. In order to achieve success in clinical trials, the closer the animal model mirrors humans, the higher the likelihood of the drug succeeding through drug trials.

Candia further confirmed the FAB model system through immunohistochemistry by looking at molecular measures. His research showed that FAB treated animals had reduced cell survival and synapse health as compared to all other animals, which was consistent with the study by Lecanu et al. 2006 that first developed the FAB model. However, there are many other molecular mechanisms in these animals that immunohistochemistry could help explain such as the amount of synapse loss, immune cell response, microtubule instability and neuronal dysregulation, that have not yet been examined. This study is also attempting to further verify the FAB model through immunohistochemistry, but this work is still being conducted.

**Hypothesis #2:** OVX rats ((-)*FAB* (+)*OVX* (-)*DCP-LA*) will perform significantly worse on MWM learning and memory tests than controls ((-)*FAB* (-)*OVX* (-)*DCP-LA*).

As opposed to the FAB animals, OVX treated animals only showed one specific memory deficit. They performed the same as the control animals during the learning trials and the immediate memory test, which differed from the deficits in both learning and memory observed in FAB animals (Figure 4 & 5). During the learning trials, OVX animals had no impact on their learning behavior (Figure 4a). This was surprising because it conflicted with several studies that examined learning capabilities in OVX animals. A study conducted by Warren and Juraska 1997 showed learning deficits in OVX rats measured by the MWM that were possibly due to the loss of 17- $\beta$  estrdiol. This finding was confirmed by Monteiro et al. 2005 in a study that measured OVX induced

learning and memory deficits also in the MWM. The results from these previous studies raised concerns about why this study did not see a learning deficit in OVX rats. There was no question as to whether the ovaries were fully removed because the simplicity of the procedure leaves no room for uncertainty about if the ovary was removed. In addition, the weight gain observed in OVX rats was consistent with previous studies. The OVX rats gained about 2.5 times as much weight as the intact animals over a four week period, which was supported by studies and literature reviews conducted by Wade 1972, Tarttelin and Gorski 1973, Wade and Gray 1979, and Roesch 2006 (Figure 2). Because OVX rats gained such a large amount of weight, their activity levels were measured to ensure that the weight gain would not be a hindrance to their performance on the learning and memory tests. The OXV (+/-) DCP-LA rats had similar locomotor activity as all the other treatment groups, ruling out mobility difficulty as an explanation for any differences in MWM performance (Figure 3a and 3b).

OVX animals did show memory deficits during the probe trial, but only on the longer memory test. The memory test examining immediate memory of the platform showed OVX (+/-) DCP-LA rats taking no longer to find the platform area than the controls (Figure 5). The FAB+ OVX (-) DCP-LA rats took longer to find the platform than the OVX rats, but matched the FAB (-) DCP-LA rats, showing that the FAB, not OVX, was responsible for increasing latency to the previous location of the platform. The longer memory test measuring total time spent in Q4 did show memory deficits in OVX animals however. The OVX (+/-) DCP-LA animals spent less time in Q4 than all other animals, which is representative of the OVX rats showing less persistence and problem solving when attempting to locate the platform (Figure 6) (Morris 1984). The memory

deficits caused by OVX treatments were consistent with previous studies, therefore validating the OVX model (Monteiro et al. 2005; Luine 2008).

**Hypothesis #3:** The FAB-OVX treatment group ((+)*FAB* (+)*OVX* (-)*DCP-LA*) will perform significantly worse on learning and memory tests than controls ((-)*FAB* (-)*OVX* (-)*DCP-LA*).

As was previously discussed, OVX did not have any impact on performance during the MWM learning days, therefore making the FAB and the FAB + OVX treatment groups equivalent (Figure 4b). OVX treatment also did not impact performance on the shorter memory test during the probe trial, and so FAB + OVX (-) DCP-LA showed similar memory deficits in rats treated only with FAB (Figure 5). However, the FAB + OVX (-) DCP-LA produced exciting results in the longer memory test. The FAB + OVX (-) DCP-LA treatment group performed worse than all other treatments because these animals spent the least amount of time in Q4 (Figure 6). The combination of the FAB and OVX treatments produced an additive effect of the memory deficits. This finding is not surprising because if both FAB and OVX produce lower memory capabilities in rats, it would be expected that they would elicit similar effects even when combined with another treatment.

It is interesting however, that no synergistic effect, or combined effect resulting in a greater deficit than either FAB or OXV individually, is observed between FAB and OVX since the loss of  $17-\beta$  estradiol is thought to increase susceptibility to AD. Even though the loss of 17- $\beta$  estradiol has been specifically linked with mechanisms underlying AD pathology, it has also been linked with other pathways that are unrelated to AD (Yamada et al. 1999, Kwakosky et al. 2016; Villa et al. 2016). In addition, it is possible that the neuroprotective effects of 17- $\beta$  estradiol could be acting through an entirely different mechanism than the FAB, meaning that the removal of 17- estradiol causes deficits for reasons completely different than deficits from FAB. Therefore without 17- $\beta$  estradiol individuals are both more at risk for developing AD, but also less protected from the disease. Unfortunately, there are no known studies to compare this result to see if a synergistic effect can also be observed.

The additive effect also might also lend some insight into why females have higher susceptibility to AD than males due to the possible misdiagnosis of AD. Because AD diagnoses are guesswork due to the inability to confirm a case of AD until after death, it is possible to misdiagnose an individual presenting with memory loss as an AD patient, even if the memory loss is due to another disease (Alzheimer's 2018). This high error rate of diagnosing AD could lead to the attribution of certain cognitive symptoms to AD instead of the true cause, especially if the other disease presents in a similar manner. For example, this study shows that the loss of 17- $\beta$  estradiol presents the same level of memory loss as the FAB model (Figure 6). If a physician is trying to diagnose a postmenopausal patient showing symptoms of memory loss, it would be very difficult to say with certainty whether the individual's memory loss is due to the reduction in 17- $\beta$ estradiol or AD. It might be possible that females are presenting with cognitive deficits due to menopause, but these symptoms are being mistaken for AD. This would lead to higher rates of AD diagnosis in females that translates into higher susceptibility measures of AD in females, even though these deficits might have another cause.

**Hypothesis #4:** DCP-LA administration will reverse the negative effects on learning and memory in all (+) FAB treated rats.

Administration of DCP-LA to FAB treated rats reversed the learning deficits induced by the FAB treatment. During the MWM learning days, the injection of DCP-LA restored cognitive function in FAB rats back to the performance of the control rats (Figure 4a, 4b). These data are supported by Candia 2017 with a study that produced similar results. Candia 2017 also saw that DCP-LA can reverse the cognitive deficits caused by the FAB model. This is due to the ability of DCP-LA to activate PKC- $\varepsilon$ , which when activated, can reduce amyloid beta plaques and tau hyperphosphorylation (Nagata et al. 2005; Nagata et al. 2010; Candia 2017). The reduction of both of these AD hallmarks is thought to be essential for producing the restorative effects. It is not known if PKC- $\varepsilon$  is deactivated in AD cases, so DCP-LA could either be reactivating a deactivated PKC- $\varepsilon$  or it could just be boosting normal PKC- $\varepsilon$  activity to promote accumulation of membrane protein, PSD-95, to promote synaptogenesis (Sen et al. 2016).

DCP-LA exhibited similar effects on restoring memory as it did on restoring learning abilities. In the memory test measuring immediate memory, an injection of DCP-LA returned FAB rat memory performance back to control levels (Figure 5). In the memory test examining problem-solving abilities, DCP-LA again reversed any deficits caused by FAB resulting in memory performance equal to the control rats (Figure 6). It is important to notice however, that in the FAB + OVX group, DCP-LA did not restore full cognitive abilities to the rats. This finding implicates the involvement of OVX and so will be further discussed under the next hypothesis.

There are two main hypotheses as to how DCP-LA's activation of PCK- $\varepsilon$  could be improving performance in these rats. One hypothesis is that the increased PKC- $\varepsilon$ activity is decreasing the pathological effects of FAB. Decreased effects of FAB theoretically would show improved cognitive abilities in rats. However because only one administration of DCP-LA was given to each animal, is would be unlikely that just one injection could completely reverse the FAB pathology. A second hypothesis suggests that increased PKC- $\varepsilon$  activity increases synaptic plasticity, which allows animals to perform better on the learning and memory tests. Increased synaptic plasticity has been linked with increased learning and memory retention, and so the single injection of DCP-LA right before MWM might improve the animal's performance (Fritsch et al. 2010). This possibility is more likely because just one injection is more likely to improve leaning immediately following the drug administration than reverse the accumulation of damage and plaques that have been building for several weeks.

**Hypothesis #5:** DCP-LA administration will reverse negative effects on learning and memory in the (+) OVX rats.

DCP-LA successfully reversed the learning and memory deficits produced by the FAB model, but it was not so successful with reversing cognitive deficits caused by loss of 17- $\beta$  estradiol in the OVX rats. The OVX itself did not produce any learning problems, but during the memory test examining the animal's problem solving abilities, DCP-LA showed no impact on OVX rat performance (Figure 6). Similarly in FAB + OVX rats, DCP-LA only appeared to reverse the negative effects produced by FAB, and not by OVX (Figure 6).

It was surprising that DCP-LA could not reverse the memory deficits from the loss of 17- $\beta$  estradiol because both DCP-LA and 17- $\beta$  estradiol activate PKC- $\epsilon$ . One hypothesis to explain why DCP-LA reverses the memory impairments from the FAB but not 17- $\beta$  estradiol is that DCP-LA and 17- $\beta$  estradiol activate PKC- $\epsilon$  through different pathways. DCP-LA binds directly to PKC- $\epsilon$  with high selectivity and affinity (Takana and Nishizaki 2003; Kanno et al. 2006; Sun and Akon 2014). 17- $\beta$  estradiol however binds to estrogen receptor, ESR1, leading to an indirect activation of PKC- $\epsilon$  (Sovershaev et al. 2006). This difference in mechanism of activation might be the key player in the modulation of PKC- $\epsilon$  activity.

Another hypothesis could be that there is a difference in PKC- $\varepsilon$  activation in the FAB and OVX conditions. Because the level of PKC- $\varepsilon$  activation is unknown in AD, it might already be high enough that just a boost in activity from DCP-LA binding is enough to produce the neuroprotective effects observed. This would differ from activated PKC- $\varepsilon$  levels in OVX animals, because PKC- $\varepsilon$  is known to be significantly reduced. It is possible that the DCP-LA is increasing PKC- $\varepsilon$  activity in OVX animals, but not enough to elicit the same effects seen in the FAB animals. In order to determine if DCP-LA is

having a possible effect on restoring PKC- $\epsilon$  activation in OVX animals, additional analyses will need to be conducted such as increasing DCP-LA dosage to see if any of the neurological deficits in OXV are reversed.

A third possibility could be that the deficits caused by OVX have absolutely nothing to do with PKC- $\varepsilon$ . The main hormone removed by an OXV, 17- $\beta$  estradiol, can activate many different subtypes of estrogen receptors (ER) in the brain, many of which lead to different signaling cascades that have been associated with learning and memory (Korol and Pisani 2015). However it is unknown which estrogen receptor is directly responsible for activation PKC- $\varepsilon$ . 17- $\beta$  estradiol binding to estrogen receptors have been linked with the activation of several pathways including initiation of transcriptional changes and the signaling of the cyclic AMP second messenger pathway. Because  $17-\beta$ estradiol can bind to many estrogen receptors to activate numerous pathways, the loss of 17- $\beta$  estradiol caused by an OVX might be causing memory deficits through a pathway unrelated to PKC- $\varepsilon$ . If this is the case, the loss of 17- $\beta$  estradiol might specifically impact memory related problem solving abilities through additional pathways. The involvement of additional pathways in the memory related problem solving abilities would make sense because it is a more complex process than immediate memory recall, and this hypothesis would support the results seen in this study. OVX rats performed at the level of the control on all tests except for the memory test that examines problem-solving abilities. Because there was an additive effect of deficits from OXV and FAB and no synergistic relationship, the hypothesis that proposes that  $17-\beta$  estradiol elicits its memory deficits through a pathway totally unrelated to PKC- $\varepsilon$  is very possible.

# Conclusion

In conclusion, this study determined that DCP-LA could not fully restore learning and memory impairments in a post-menopausal sporadic AD model. DCP-LA completely reversed the deficits caused by the FAB model, but had no impact on the OXV population's cognitive abilities. In the postmenopausal model that combined FAB and OXV, the reduced memory abilities due to the loss of  $17-\beta$  estradiol were still observed. These deficits caused by the decrease in 17- $\beta$  estradiol should be a major area of study in future AD experiments because there are no known therapies to prevent or slow the cognitive decline associated with this hormonal absence. Even though DCP-LA did not appear to have any impact on OVX animals in this study, this result does not mean that DCP-LA has no impact at all. This study can be modified to increase administration of DCP-LA to see if more long term dosages of DCP-LA might have an effect on OVX animals. Other PKC- $\varepsilon$  activators can be introduced to this post menopause sporadic AD model to see if there are any that might elicit effects. It is also possible that these experiments will reveal that this research is not even on the right track, but instead a whole different approach to AD should be pursed. All these experiments will lead to answers that will slowly help researchers answer the main question behind this study: why are women more susceptible to AD?

#### **Works Cited**

Akita Y. 2002. Protein kinase c-epsilon (PKC-epsilon): its unique structure and function. J. Biochem. 132:847–52.

Alzheimer's Association. 2017. FDA-approved treatments for Alzheimer's.

- Alzheimer's Association. 2018 Alzheimer's Disease Facts and Figures. Alzheimers Dement 2018;14(3):367-429.
- Andreyev AY, Kushnareva YE, Starkov AA. 2005. Mitochondrial metabolism of reactive oxygen species. Biochemistry Mosc. 70:200–14.
- Arendt, T., Schindler, C., Bruckner, M.K., Eschrich, K., Bigl, V., Zedlick, D. et al. 1997. Plastic neuronal remodeling is impaired in patients with Alzheimer's disease carrying apolipoprotein epsilon 4 allele. *J Neurosci*.17: 516–529
- Baum L. 2005. Sex, Hormones, and Alzheimer's Disease, *The Journals of Gerontology* 60(6): 736–743.
- Bickel H, Cooper B. 1994. Incidence and relative risk of dementia in an urban elderly population: findings of a prospective field study. Psychol Med 24(1):179–192.
- Bonaiuto S, Rocca WA, Lippi A, et al. 1995. Education and occupation as risk factors for dementia: a population-based case-control study. Neuroepidemiology 14(3):101–109.
- Bonnar J. 1987. Coagulation effects of oral contraception. Am J Obstet Gymecol 157(4 Pt 2): 1042-8.
- Brann DW, Dhandapani K, Wakade C, Mahesh VB, Khan MM. 2007. Neurotrophic and neuroprotective actions of estrogen: basic mechanisms and clinical implications. Steroids 72:381–405.
- Brisken C, O'Malley B. 2010. Hormone action in the mammary gland. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2:a003178.
- Candia R. 2017. Assessing the Therapeutic Potential of the Linoleic Acid Derivative DCP-LA in a Pharmacological Rat Model of Alzheimer's Disease. Drew University Specialized Honors Thesis.
- Chlebowski RT, Hendrix SL, Langer RD, et al, for the WHI Investigators. 2003. Influence of estrogen plus progestin on breast cancer and mammography in healthy postmenopausal women: the Women's Health Initiative randomised trial. JAMA 289: 3243–53.
- Choi D-SS, Wang D, Yu G-QQ, Zhu G, Kharazia VN, Paredes JP, Chang WS, Deitchman JK, Mucke L, Messing RO. 2006. PKCepsilon increases endothelin converting enzyme activity and reduces amyloid plaque pathology in transgenic mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103:8215–20.

- Corder E, Saunders A, Strittmatter W, Schmechel D, Gaskell P, Small G, Roses A, Haines, Pericak-Vance M. 1993. Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. Science 261 (5123): 921-923
- Cordey, M, Gundimeda, U, Gopalakrishna, R. and Pike, C. J. 2003. Estrogen activates protein kinase C in neurons: role in neuroprotection. Journal of Neurochemistry, 84: 1340-1348.
- Cosentino S, Scarmeas N, Helzner E, Glymour MM, Brandt J, Albert M et al. 2008. APOE e4 allele predicts faster cognitive decline in mild Alzheimer disease. Neurology 70(Pt 2): 1842–1849.
- Coyoy A, Guerra-Araiza C, Camacho-Arroyo, I. 2016. Metabolism regulation by estrogens and their receptors in the central nervous system before and after menopause. Horm. Metab. Res 48: 489-496
- Cras P, Kawai M, Lowery D, Gonzalez-DeWhitt P, Greenberg B, Perry G. 1991. Senile plaque neurites in Alzheimer disease accumulate amyloid precursor protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 88(17):7552-7556.
- Cutler G. 1997. The role of estrogen in bone growth and maturation during childhood and adolescence. J Steroid Biochem Mol Bio 61(3-6):141:144
- Dalal, Pronob K, Agarwal M. 2015. Postmenopausal Syndrome. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry* 57.Suppl 2:S222–S232.
- Damoiseaux JS, Seeley WW, Zhou J, et al. 2012. Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative Gender modulates the APOE ε4 effect in healthy older adults: convergent evidence from functional brain connectivity and spinal fluid tau levels. J Neurosci 32(24):8254–8262.
- Daniel JM, Hulst JL, Endocrinology B-J. 2006. Estradiol replacement enhances working memory in middle-aged rats when initiated immediately after ovariectomy but not after a long-term period of ovarian hormone deprivation. Endocrinology 147(1):607–614
- Davis DM, Jacobson TK, Aliakbari S, Mizumori SJ. 2005. Differential effects of estrogen on hippocampal- and striatal-dependent learning. Neurobiol Learn Mem 84:132–7.
- Di Capua N, Sperling O, Zoref-Shani E. 2003. Protein kinase C-epsilon is involved in the adenosine-activated signal transduction pathway conferring protection against ischemia–reperfusion injury in primary rat neuronal cultures. J. Neurochem 84: 409-412

- Dohanich GP. 2002. Gonadal steroids, learning and memory. In: Pfaff DW, Arnold AP, Etgen AM, Fahrbach SE, Rubin RI, editors. Hormones, Brain and Behavior. Academic Press; San Diego pp. 265–327.
- Douma SL, Husband C, O'Donnell ME, Barwin BN, Woodend AK. 2005. Estrogenrelated mood disorders: reproductive life cycle factors. Science 28(4): 364-75.
- Eckman EA, Reed DK, Eckman CB. 2001. Degradation of the Alzheimer's amyloid beta peptide by endothelin-converting enzyme. J. Biol. Chem. 276:24540–8.
- Fader AJ, Hendricson AW, Dohanich GP. 1998. Estrogen improves performance of reinforced T-maze alternation and prevents the amnestic effects of scopolamine administered systemically or intrahippocampally. Neurobiol Learn Mem 69:225– 240
- Fader AJ, Johnson PE, Dohanich GP. 1999. Estrogen improves working but not reference memory and prevents amnestic effects of scopolamine of a radial-arm maze. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 62:711–717.
- Fallin D, Cohen A, Essioux L, Chumakov I, Blumenfeld M, Cohen D, Schork NJ. 2001. Genetic analysis of case/control data using estimated haplotype frequencies: application to APOE locus variation and Alzheimer's disease. Genome Res. 11:143–51.
- Farrer LA, Cupples LA, Haines JL, Hyman B, Kukull WA, Mayeux R, Myers RH, Pericak-Vance MA, Risch N, van Duijn CM. 1997. Effects of age, sex, and ethnicity on the association between apolipoprotein E genotype and Alzheimer disease. A meta-analysis. APOE and Alzheimer Disease Meta Analysis Consortium 278(16):1349-56.
- Fleisher A, Grundman M, Jack CR Jr, Petersen RC, Taylor C, Kim HT, Schiller DH, Bagwell V, Sencakova D, Weiner MF, DeCarli C, DeKosky ST, van Dyck CH, Thal LJ. 2005. Sex, apolipoprotein E epsilon 4 status, and hippocampal volume in mild cognitive impairment. Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study. Arch Neurol 62(6):953-7.
- Fratiglioni L, Grut M, Forsell Y, et al. 1991. Prevalence of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias in an elderly urban population: relationship with age, sex, and education. Neurology 41(12):1886–1892.
- Frick KM. 2009. Estrogens and age-related memory decline in rodents: what have we learned and where do we go from here? Horm. Behav 55:2–23
- Fritsch B, Reis J, Martinowich K, Schambra HM, Ji Y, Cohen LG, Lu B. 2010. Direct current stimulation promotes BDNF-dependent synaptic plasticity: potential implications for motor learning. Neuron 66:198–204.

- Funalot B, Ouimet T, Claperon A, Fallet C, Delacourte A, Epelbaum J, Subkowski T, Léonard N, Codron V, David J-PP, et al. 2004. Endothelin-converting enzyme-1 is expressed in human cerebral cortex and protects against Alzheimer's disease. Mol. Psychiatry 9:1122–8, 1059.
- Gouras GK, Olsson TT, Hansson O. 2015. β-Amyloid peptides and amyloid plaques in Alzheimer's disease. Neurotherapeutics 12:3–11.
- Gresack JE, Frick KM. 2006. Post-training estrogen enhances spatial and object memory consolidation in female mice. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 84:112–9.
- Hammond J, Cai D, Verhey K. 2008. Tubulin modifications and their cellular functions. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 20.
- Heine PA, Taylor JA, Iwamoto GA, Lubahn DB, Cooke PS. 2000. Increased adipose tissue in male and female estrogen receptor-alpha knockout mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97:12729–34.
- Henderson VW, Benke KS, Green RC, Cupples LA, Farrer LA, MIRAGE Study Group. 2005. Postmenopausal hormone therapy and Alzheimer's disease risk: interaction with age. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 76(1):103–105.
- Hongpaisan J, Sun MK, Alkon DL. 2011. PKC ε activation prevents synaptic loss, Aβ elevation, and cognitive deficits in Alzheimer's disease transgenic mice. J. Neurosci. 31(2):630–643.
- Isagawa T., Mukai H., Oishi K., Taniguchi T., Hasegawa H., Kawamata T., Tanaka C., Ono Y., 2000. Dual effect of PKNalpha and protein kinase C on phosphorylation of tau protein by glycogen synthase kinase-3beta. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm. 273, 209-212.
- Janicki SC, Schupf N. 2010. Hormonal influences on cognition and risk for Alzheimer's disease. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 10(5): 359–366.
- Ji, Y., Gong, Y., Gan, W., Beach, T., Holtzman, D.M., and Wisniewski, T. 2003. Apolipoprotein E isoform-specific regulation of dendritic spine morphology in apolipoprotein E transgenic mice and Alzheimer's disease patients. *Neuroscience* 122: 305–315
- Kalu, D.N. 1991. The ovariectomized rat model of postmenopausal bone loss. *Bone Miner*. **15**:175-191.
- Karp A, Kåreholt I, Qiu C, Bellander T, Winblad B, Fratiglioni L. 2004. Relation of education and occupation-based socioeconomic status to incident Alzheimer's disease. Am J Epidemiol 159(2):175–183.

- Katzman R. 1993. Education and the prevalence of dementia and Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 43(1):13–20.
- Klatt S, Rohe M, Alagesan K, Kolarich D, Konthur Z, Hartl D. 2012. Production of glycosylated soluble amyloid precursor protein alpha (sAPPalpha) in Leishmania tarentolae. J. Proteome Res. 12:396403.
- Kanno T, Yamamoto H, Yaguchi T, Hi R, Mukasa T, Fujikawa H, Nagata T, Yamamoto S, Tanaka A, Nishizaki T. 2006. The linoleic acid derivative DCP-LA selectively activates PKC-epsilon, possibly binding to the phosphatidylserine binding site. J. Lipid Res.47:1146–56.
- Kanno T, Tsuchiya A, Tanaka A, Nishizaki T. 2016. Combination of PKC $\epsilon$  activation and PTP1B inhibition effectively suppresses A $\beta$ -induced GSK-3 $\beta$  activation and Tau phosphorylation. Mol Neurobiol 53(7): 4787-4797.
- Korach K. 1994. Insights from the study of animals lacking functional estrogen receptor. *Science* 266 (5190): 1524-1527.
- Korol DL, Pisani SL. 2015. Estrogens and cognition: Friends or foes?: An evaluation of the opposing effects of estrogens on learning and memory. Horm Behav 74:105–15.
- Kwakowsky A, Milne MR, Waldvogel HJ, Faull R. 2016. Effect of estradiol on neurotrophin receptors in basal forebrain cholinergic neurons: Relevance for Alzheimer's disease. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 17:1-28.
- Lacey JV, Mink PJ, Lubin JH, Sherman ME, Troisi R, Hartge P, Schatzkin A, Schairer C. 2002. Menopausal hormone replacement therapy and risk of ovarian cancer. JAMA 288:334–41.
- LeBlanc ES, Janowsky J, Chan BK, Nelson HD. 2001. Hormone replacement therapy and cognition: systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 285: 1489-99.
- Lecanu L, Greeson J, Papadopoulos V. 2006. Beta amyloid and oxidative stress jointly induce neuronal death, amyloid deposits, gliosis, and memory impairment in the rat brain. Pharmacol 76:19-33.
- Lecanu L, Papadopoulos V. 2013. Modeling Alzheimer's disease with non-transgenic rat models. Alzheimers Res Ther 5:17
- Leeuwenburgh, C., Heinecke, J.W., 2001. Oxidative stress and antioxidants in exercise. Curr. Med. Chem. 8(7): 829-838

- Liu Y, Paajanen T, Westman E, et al. 2010. Effect of APOE ɛ4 allele on cortical thicknesses and volumes: the AddNeuroMed study. J Alzheimers Dis 21(3):947–966.
- Luine V, Richards ST, Wu VY, Beck K. 1998. Estradiol enhances learning and memory in a spatial memory task and effects levels of monoaminergic neurotransmitters. Horm Behav 34:149–162.
- Luine VN. 2008. Sex steroids and cognitive function. J Neuroendocrinol 20:866-872
- Maher P. 2001. How protein kinase c activation protects nerve cells from oxidative stress- inducted cell death. J. Neurosci 21: 2929-2938.
- Mahley RW, Rall Jr SC. 2000. Apolipoprotein E: far more than a lipid transport protein. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 1: 507–537.
- Massaro D, Massaro G. 2004. Estrogen regulates pulmonary alveolar formation, loss, and regeneration in mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 287: L1154-L1159.
- Michaelson DM. 2014. APOE ɛ4: the most prevalent yet understudied risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement 10:861–8
- Mielke MM, Vemuri P, Rocca WA. 2014. Clinical epidemiology of Alzheimer's disease: assessing sex and gender differences. Clin Epidemiol 6:37–48.
- Mokhtar SH, Bakhuraysah MM, Cram DS, Petratos S. 2013. The Beta-amyloid protein of Alzheimer's disease: communication breakdown by modifying the neuronal cytoskeleton. Int J Alzheimers Dis 2013:910502
- Monteiro SC, Matté C, Bavaresco CS, Netto CA, Wyse AT. 2005. Vitamins E and C pretreatment prevents ovariectomy-induced memory deficits in water maze. Neurobiol Learn Mem 84:192–9
- Morris R. 1984. Developments of a water-maze procedure for studying spatial learning in the rat. J. Neurosci. Methods 11:47–60.
- Morrison JH, Brinton RD, Schmidt PJ, Gore AC. 2006. Estrogen, menopause, and the aging brain: how basic neuroscience can inform hormone therapy in women. J Neurosci 26(41):10332–10348.
- Mortimer JA, Graves AB. 1993. Education and other socioeconomic determinants of dementia and Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 43(8, Suppl 4):S39–S44.
- Mulnard RA, Cotman CW, Kawas C, van Dyck CH, Sano M, Doody R, Koss E, Pfeiffer E, Jin S, Gamst A, et al. 2000. Estrogen replacement therapy for treatment of

mild to moderate Alzheimer disease: a randomized controlled trial. Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study. JAMA 283:1007–15.

- Nabulsi AA, Folsom AR, White A, et al. 2993. Association of hormonereplacement therapy with various cardiovascular risk factors in postmenopausal women. N Engl J Med 328:1069-75.
- Nagata T, Yamamoto S, Yaguchi T, Hiroyuki I, Anaka A, Nishizaki T. 2005. The newly synthesized linoleic acid derivative DCP-LA ameliorates memory deficits in animal models treated with amyloid-β peptide and scopolamine. Psychogeriatrics 5:122–126
- Nagata T, Tomiyama T, Mori H, Yaguchi T, Nishizaki T. 2010. DCP-LA neutralizes mutant amyloid peptide-induced impairment of long-term potentiation and spatial learning. Behav Brain Res 206(1):151-154.
- Nelson TJ, Alkon DL. 2009. Neuroprotective versus tumorigenic protein kinase c activators. Trends Biochem. Sci. 34:136–45.
- Nomaguchi KM, Bianchi SM. 2004. Exercise time: gender differences in the effects of marriage, parenthood, and employment. J Marriage Fam 66(2):413–430
- Norton S, Matthews F, Barnes D, Yaffe K, Brayne C. 2014. Potential for primary prevention of Alzheimer's disease: an analysis of population-based data. Lancet Neurology 13:788–794.
- Nugent BM, Tobet SA, Lara HE, Lucion AB, Wilson ME, Recabarren SE, Paredes AH.
  2012. Hormonal programming across the lifespan. Horm Metab Res 44(8):577-86.
- Riggs BL. 2000. The mechanisms of estrogen regulation of bone resorption. J. Clin. Invest. 106:1203–4.
- Rocca WA, Grossardt BR, Shuster LT. 2011. Oophorectomy, menopause, estrogen treatment, and cognitive aging: clinical evidence for a window of opportunity. Brain Res 1379:188–198.
- Roe CM, Xiong C, Miller JP, Morris JC. 2007. Education and Alzheimer disease without dementia: support for the cognitive reserve hypothesis. Neurology 68(3):223–228.
- Roesch DM. Effects of selective estrogen receptor agonists on food intake and body weight gain in rats. *Physiol Behav.* 2006;87:39–44.
- Roses, A.D. 1996. Apolipoprotein E alleles as risk factors in Alzheimer's disease. *Annu Rev Med* 47: 387–400

- Ross RK, Paganini-Hill A, Wan PC, Pike MC. 2000. Effect of hormone replacement therapy on breast cancer risk: estrogen versus estrogen plus progestin. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 92:328–32.
- Rossouw JE, Anderson GL, Prentice RL, LaCroix AZ, Kooperberg C, Stefanick ML, Jackson RD, Beresford SAA, Howard BV, Johnson KC, et al. 2002. Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: principal results From the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. JAMA 288:321–33.
- Roy A, Chaguturu R. 2017. Chapter 3 Holistic Drug Targeting, In: Patwardhan B, Chaguturu R, editors. Innovative Approaches in Drug Discovery. Boston (MA): Academic Press. P. 65-88.
- Ryan CL, Siebens J. Educational Attainment in the United States: 2009. Current Population Reports. Washington, DC: US Department of Commerce, US Census Bureau; 2012. [Accessed April 6, 2018]. Available from: <u>http://www.census.gov/prod/2012pubs/p20-566.pdf</u>.
- Santa-Maria I, Varghese M, Księżak-Reding H, Dzhun A, Wang J, Pasinetti GM. 2012. Paired Helical Filaments from Alzheimer Disease Brain Induce Intracellular Accumulation of Tau Protein in Aggresomes. J Biol Chem 287(24):20522-20533.
- Saunders, A.M., Strittmatter, W.J., Schmechel, D., George-Hyslop, P.H., Pericak-Vance, M.A., Joo, S.H. et al. 1993. Association of apolipoprotein E allele epsilon 4 with late-onset familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* 43: 1467–1472
- Sen A, Hongpaisan J, Wang D, Nelson T, Alkon D. 2016. PKC epsilon promotes synaptogenesis through membrane accumulation of the postsynaptic density protein PSD-95. J Biol Chem 291:16462-16476.
- Sengupta, P. 2013. The Laboratory Rat: Relating Its Age With Human's. Int J Prev Med 4(6), 624–630.
- Shumaker SA, Legault C, Kuller L, et al. 2004. Women's Health Initiative Memory Study Conjugated equine estrogens and incidence of probable dementia and mild cognitive impairment in postmenopausal women: Women's Health Initiative Memory Study. JAMA 291(24):2947–2958.
- Slooter AJ, Cruts M, Kalmijn S, Hofman A, Breteler MM, Van Broeckhoven C et al. 1998. Risk estimates of dementia by apolipoprotein E genotypes from a population-based incidence study: the Rotterdam Study. Arch Neurol 55: 964– 968.

- Sovershaev MA, Egorina EM, Andreasen TV, Jonassen AK, Ytrehus K. 2006. Preconditioning by 17β-estradiol in isolated rat heart depends on PI3-K/PKB pathway, PKC, and ROS. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 291: H1554–H1562
- Stachenfeld NS, Keefe DL (2002). Estrogen effects on osmotic regulation of AVP and fluid balance. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 283:E711–21.
- Stern Y, Gurland B, Tatemichi TK, Tang MX, Wilder D, Mayeux R. 1994. Influence of education and occupation on the incidence of Alzheimer's disease. JAMA 271(13):1004–1010.
- Sun M-KK, Alkon DL. 2014. The "memory kinases": roles of PKC isoforms in signal processing and memory formation. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 122:31–59.
- Tanaka A, Nishizaki T. 2003. The newly synthesized linoleic acid derivative FR236924 induces a long-lasting facilitation of hippocampal neurotransmission by targeting nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. Bioorganic Medicinal Chem Letters 13:1037-40.
- Takashima A. 2006. GSK-3 is essential in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 9, 309-317.
- Tarttelin MF, Gorski RA. The effects of ovarian steroids on food and water intake and body weight in the female rat. Acta Endocrinol (Copenh) 1973;72:551 68
- Teter, B. 2004. ApoE-dependent plasticity in Alzheimer's disease. J Mol Neurosci 23: 167–179
- Uemura K, Aki T, Yamaguchi K, Yoshida K. 2003. Protein kinase C epsilon protects PC12 cells against methamphetamine-induced death: possible involvement of suppression of glutamate receptor. Life Sci 72:1595-1607
- Vemuri P, Lesnick TG, Przybelski SA, et al. 2012. Effect of lifestyle activities on Alzheimer disease biomarkers and cognition. Ann Neurol 72(5):730–738.
- Villa A, Vegeto E, Poletti A, Maggi A. 2016. Estrogens, Neuroinflammation, and Neurodegeneration. *Endocr Rev* 37(4):372-402.
- Wade GN. Gonadal hormones and behavioral regulation of body weight. Physiol Behav 1972;8:523 34.
- Wade GN, Gray JM. Gonadal effects on food intake and adiposity: a metabolic hypothesis. Physiol Behav 1979;22:583 93.

- Wang JZ, Xia YY, Grundke-Iqbal I, et al. Abnormal hyperphosphorylation of tau: sites, regulation, and molecular mechanism of neurofibrillary degeneration. J Alzheimers Dis. 2013;33 (Suppl 1):S123–39
- Ward A, Crean S, Mercaldi CJ, Collins JM, Boyd D, Cook MN, Arrighi HM. 2012. Prevalence of apolipoprotein E4 genotype and homozygotes (APOE e4/4) among patients diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Neuroepidemiology 38:1–17.
- Warren, S.G., & Juraska, J.M. (1997). Spatial and nonspatial learning across the rat estrous cycle. Behavioral Neuroscience, 111, 259–266
- Whitmer RA, Quesenberry CP, Zhou J, Yaffe K. 2011. Timing of hormone therapy and dementia: the critical window theory revisited. Ann Neurol 69(1):163–169.
- Wong CH, Siah KW, Lo AW. 2018. Estimation of clinical trial success rates and related parameters. Biostatistics. 1-14.
- Yaguchi T, Fujikawa H, Nishizaki T. 2010. Linoleic acid derivative DCP-LA protects neurons from oxidative stress-induced apoptosis by inhibiting caspase-3/-9 activation. Neurochem. Res. 35:712–7
- Yamada K, Tanaka T, Zou LB, Senzaki K, Yano K, Osada T, Ana O, Ren X, Kameyama T, Nabeshima T. 1999. Long-term deprivation of oestrogens by ovariectomy potentiates beta-amyloid-induced working memory deficits in rats. Br. J. Pharmacol. 128:419–27.
- Zhang MY, Katzman R, Salmon D, et al. 1990. The prevalence of dementia and Alzheimer's disease in Shanghai, China: impact of age, gender, and education. Ann Neurol 27(4):428–437.
- Zhu, G, Wang D, Lin Y, McMahon T, Koo E, Messing R. 2001. Protein kinase C epsilon suppresses Abeta production and promotes activation of alpha-secretase. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 285:997-1006.